

HOMELESSNESS & AFFORDABLE HOUSING



Lord Mayor's Charitable Foundation has a longstanding commitment to alleviating homelessness.

24,817 Victorians were homeless on census night 2016. 164,000 affordable housing units required to fulfil estimated deficit for very low and low-income households in Victoria.

We are working on the systemic causes of homelessness to prevent it.

We are also focused on ending enduring, entrenched homelessness.

The Foundation recognises that the lack of affordable housing is one of the primary causes of homelessness.

As such we are working to increase the supply of quality affordable housing.

The Foundation is working towards achieving the following outcomes:

OUTCOME 1

Homelessness or entrenchment of homelessness is prevented.

OUTCOME 2 The supply of affordable, sustainable and healthy housing is increased.

OUTCOME 3 Increased energy efficient and climate resilient homes for vulnerable households. Melbourne is ranked fourth in the world for the most unaffordable housing market.

Does your organisation's work align with the outcomes of this Impact Area?

Learn about our grants at Imcf.org.au/grants

Speak to Erin Dolan,

Senior Program Manager – Homelessness & Affordable Housing

(03) 9633 0026 erin.dolan@lmcf.org.au

LORD MAYOR'S CHARITABLE FOUNDATION

Homelessness or entrenchment of homelessness is prevented.

Homelessness in Melbourne is increasing.

The Foundation understands the complex range of issues that can lead someone to become homeless, including family violence, unexpected economic challenges, mental health issues, drug and alcohol and lack of affordable housing options, among others.

We work to better understand the core, underlying issues that drive homelessness and, most importantly, to put these findings into best practice interventions.

We support early interventions, working systemically to prevent entry and entrenchment in homelessness.

The Foundation's support is focused on:

- Organisations and interventions that utilise Housing First principles.
- Research to better understand what interventions work.
- Collaboration between sectors, to reduce drivers of homelessness.

Challenge

Homelessness is on the rise

In 2018, the latest data from the Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) showed an increase of homelessness across Australia.¹ In Victoria, homelessness rose by 43 per cent from 2006 to 2016 with 24,817 people homeless on census night.² Rough sleepers account for 5 per cent of the total homeless population.³ Most of the people who experience homelessness are not visible; 36 per cent of the homeless population are in severely overcrowded dwellings – the highest recorded location for people experiencing homelessness by the ABS.⁴

Across Australia, the need is greater than the response. On average in Victoria, 90 clients are turned away from homelessness services every day due to a lack of housing and resources.⁵

Certain cohorts disproportionately experience homelessness.

There are certain groups of people who are overrepresented in the homelessness statistics:

- Young people, aged 25 and under, make up 39 per cent of the total homeless population.⁶ Young people also have high rates of homelessness; 19 to 24-year-olds have the highest rate of homelessness at nearly 1 in 100, compared to 1 in 200 of the general population.⁷ This is even more significant when considering that people who experience homelessness in their youth are more likely to experience entrenched homelessness as an adult.⁸ For young people who exit state care, including foster care and juvenile justice settings, the picture is even bleaker – with up to 40 per cent of people exiting statutory care experiencing homelessness within the first 12 months of exiting.⁹
- Homelessness for older people is on the rise too, with people aged 55 and over making up 13 per cent of the Victorian homeless population.¹⁰ Women over 55 years are the fastest growing group experiencing homelessness.¹¹ This is likely to increase, as Australia's overall population ages.
- LGBTIQA+ people in Victoria are twice as likely to experience homelessness.¹²

- Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people make up 4 per cent of the total homeless population yet are less than 1 per cent of the Victorian population.¹³ Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander young people make up 25 per cent of 15 to 24-year-olds seeking help for homelessness.¹⁴
- Men represent the larger portion of the homelessness population at 58 per cent.¹⁵ However more women are supported by specialist homelessness services at 61 per cent.¹⁶

There is no single cause of homelessness.

There are many contributing factors that can lead to a person experiencing homelessness including family violence, income issues, mental and physical illness, and drug and alcohol abuse. The lack of housing remains the single largest reasons for why people experience homelessness, which is closely related to issues around poverty more generally.¹⁷

Family violence is the main reason why people, mainly women and children, seek assistance for homelessness, making up 47 per cent of all people requesting help.¹⁸ A woman's ability to maintain housing when escaping family violence is linked to her access to financial and social resources, which can often be an aspect of abuse from a controlling partner. ¹⁹ Women escaping family violence may not have a housing history, or may have to leave immediately, limiting their ability to rent.²⁰

Women are also more affected by the shortage of affordable housing with cultural and structural trends making them more financially vulnerable. The gender pay gap is currently 17.3 per cent for the base salary of men and women working full time.²¹ Women generally earn less than men and are more likely to take leave from the workforce due to caring responsibilities.²²

Mental health and homelessness is a 'bi-directional relationship' where mental health is both a cause and consequence of homelessness.²³ People who are experiencing acute mental health issues can be at risk of losing their housing. As well, many people who experience homelessness develop a mental illness due to the stress of homelessness.²⁴

There is a clear link between trauma and homelessness, with people experiencing homelessness reporting a high number of traumatic events during their life. Many psychiatric disorders are known to develop after traumatic events, including substance use disorders, which can affect a person's ability to maintain a tenancy. A study that looked at long-term homelessness found that 97 per cent of participants had experienced four or more traumatic events in their lifetime, in comparison to 4 per cent in the general community.²⁵ Most were exposed to trauma during their childhood and 70 per cent experienced at least one traumatic event before experiencing homelessness.²⁶

Our Response

Lord Mayor's Charitable Foundation is focused on systemic, lasting interventions that prevent homelessness or stop long-term, entrenched homelessness. For those experiencing homelessness, we support interventions that rapidly rehouse people so that their incident of homelessness is brief and to minimise trauma.

The Foundation recognises that the lack of supply of affordable housing is one of the primary causes of homelessness. As such we aim to increase the supply of quality affordable housing, particularly for young people and older women. We fund long-term affordable housing for very low and low income people in Victoria. We also acknowledge the need for people to create a home, and support quality affordable housing that fosters social inclusion and value in people's lives.

We encourage the sector-wide adoption of the Housing First model, a 'strategic response to homelessness that prioritises permanent and stable housing for people experiencing homelessness.' ²⁷ We believe housing should not be withheld from those who experience homelessness due to other factors such as substance use, mental illness or incarceration, and we support harm reduction initiatives.

The Foundation contributes to evidenced based approaches and actively funds research into homelessness to better understand the causes and effective responses. We are especially interested in cohorts that have higher incidents of homelessness or are disadvantaged. We fund innovative projects that respond to emerging new data or insights and can demonstrate effective responses.

Affecting homelessness is complex. Lord Mayor's Charitable Foundation has been working in the area of homelessness for over a decade and we are committed to using our resources to enable and enact solutions.

The Foundation's support is focused on:

- Organisations and interventions that utilise Housing First principles.
- Research to better understand what interventions work.
- Collaboration between sectors, to reduce drivers of homelessness.



The supply of affordable, sustainable and healthy housing is increased.

Melbourne's housing market is one of the most unaffordable in the world, yet a home is central to better health and happiness.

The Foundation works to increase the number of very low and low income households living in affordable housing and to reduce housing affordability stress.

We support the development of quality affordable housing, which is sustainable, well-designed, and built in locations that have access to transport, amenities, schools and employment - increasing the life opportunities of residents.

The Foundation's support is focused on:

- Strategic and creative responses to increasing affordable housing, including demonstrating innovative financial models.
- Affordable housing developments that are innovative and can be used as prototypes.
- Community awareness to increase public support for affordable housing developments.

Challenge

Housing affordability

One of the underlying causes of homelessness is housing affordability. Melbourne continues to be one of the most unaffordable housing markets in the world, recently ranked fourth overall, a rise from previous years.¹ Housing in Australia has become less affordable since the 1980s as the gap between people's income and housing prices has widened.² In 2001, the median dwelling cost 4.7 times the median annual household income in Melbourne.³ Today that figure is 9.7.⁴

These rising prices have led to greater inequality, with younger people and lower income households and individuals being 'locked out' of the market.⁵ It will now take 10.7 years for the median income household to save a 20 per cent deposit for a median home in Melbourne, based on households saving 15 per cent of their gross income.⁶ Rent has also risen faster than wages and larger portions of people's incomes are spent on housing, with less left for other basic expenses such as food and health.⁷

There are many reasons for the lack of housing affordability; record low interest rates, a long period of economic growth and increased urbanisation. The factors that can influence housing affordability include taxation, planning regulations, welfare, immigration and other policies. There is no clear indication of when the continual rise of housing prices will ease.⁸

Housing affordability stress

Lower income households are particularly vulnerable to the lack of affordable housing.⁹ A simple definition of housing affordability stress is when the lowest 40 per cent of households by income pay more than 30 per cent of their income on housing.¹⁰ In the bottom 20 per cent of Australia's income distribution, 72 per cent of households experience housing affordability stress.¹¹

An increase in housing prices across all income levels is believed to create a downward push on low and very low income households.¹² More people are likely to rent, yet lower income households are competing with people on higher incomes for scarce affordable rental housing People are moving farther away from the city, with less access to public transport or employment opportunities.¹³ Renting is also deemed more precarious than home ownership, with less security and control over one's environment.¹⁴

For renters who derive their incomes from Centrelink benefits, only 4.9 per cent of new private lettings in Greater Melbourne are affordable to lower income households.¹⁵ This rental stress is even bleaker for those on certain Centrelink benefits such as Newstart Allowance (0.3 per cent) or a single parent with one child Parenting Payment (1.2 per cent).¹⁶ Location also significantly affects housing affordability, with only 1.1 per cent of rentals available for lower income households in inner Melbourne.¹⁷

Home ownership is a way to build personal and intergenerational wealth, with many tax incentives for investing in property. The retirement system is also designed with home ownership in mind, yet the rate of 55 to 64-year-olds who own their homes outright have fallen from 72 per cent in 1995-96 to 42 per cent in 2015-16.¹⁸ An increasing number of older people, and women in particular, are living in unstable housing.¹⁹ This rate is likely to get worse as the overall population ages.

Affordable housing

On 1 June 2018, a new definition of affordable housing came into effect under the Planning and Environment Act 1987 (Vic).²⁰ Affordable housing is housing for very low, low and moderate income households.²¹ These definitions include specific income levels per household.

Our Response

The commitment of Lord Mayor's Charitable Foundation to affordable housing responds directly to the issue of homelessness. The Foundation recognises that the lack of affordable housing is one of the primary causes of homelessness. We also know that long-term affordable housing is integral to the Housing First model – rapidly rehousing people in stable permanent or longerterm homes – as part of best practice to end chronic homelessness.

Lord Mayor's Charitable Foundation is one of the few foundations that fund the construction of affordable housing. We support innovate affordable housing developments, including ones that create and test emerging financial models of affordable housing. We help build replicable models that can demonstrate solutions when scaled. We also are interested in supporting solutions that add value to the community and a highquality of living for the residents. As a recognition of the Foundation's response to homelessness, we have a particular focus on providing quality affordable housing for young people and older women.

We support research that identifies the salient features of quality affordable housing, including access to amenities, transport, schools and employment. We are also looking at alternatives to traditional housing to assess their affordability. We have a commitment to creating sustainable homes, including increased energy efficiency and climate resilience for vulnerable households. We are also supporting research to help understand what residents need to create a lasting home.

We aim to provide education to the public to increase the supply of affordable housing and shift public perception on social housing. We support and encourage QIMBY, Quality In My Back Yard as an alternative to NIMBY or Not In My Back Yard. We believe that quality affordable housing and affordable housing residents bring prosperity to communities and value to Victoria generally.

Housing affordability is an issue affecting all Australians, yet the nature of the great Australian dream is changing. The Foundation is actively involved in this conversation.

The Foundation's support is focused on:

- Strategic and creative responses to increasing affordable housing, including demonstrating innovative financial models.
- Affordable housing developments that are innovative and can be used as prototypes.
- Community awareness to increase public support for affordable housing developments.



Increased energy efficiency and climate resilience of vulnerable households.

Our community is vulnerable to the changing climate and also a significant source of greenhouse gas emissions. Victoria's per capita greenhouse gas emissions are among the highest in the world - approximately four times the global average.

While most temperature-related deaths in Australia can be attributed to cold weather, heat-related impacts on health are increasing; causing more deaths than all other natural disasters combined.

People most at risk of these temperature-related effects, such as low-income households, are also under pressure from rising energy costs. In all our Impact Areas, the Foundation has a particular commitment to supporting the most disadvantaged people in our community.

The Foundation aims to increase the energy efficiency and climate resilience of vulnerable households to reduce the cost of living, reduce emissions and provide protection from temperature related health impacts.

The Foundation's support is focused on:

- Initiatives that directly increase the energy efficiency and climate resilience of vulnerable households, such as subsidy or retrofit programs, including where they potentially intersect with our interest in increasing the supply of affordable housing.
- Activities that demonstrably influence relevant local, state and commonwealth policies, regulations and codes.
- Research to better understand energy poverty, temperature-related risks, residential greenhouse gas emissions and measures to reduce them.

Challenge

Temperature-related death and illness is increasing.

As the climate changes, day and night-time temperatures are increasing, and extreme heat events are becoming more common. For example, 2019 experienced 43 extremely warm days, more than triple the number in any of the years prior to 2000.¹

Urban areas with little vegetation have much higher temperatures than surrounding areas and the experience the heat extremes more profoundly.² In Greater Melbourne, this Urban Heat Island effect is strongly correlated with areas of disadvantage, particularly in the Western, Northern and South-Eastern suburbs.³ These effects are further amplified when housing is poorly constructed, not well-insulated and expensive to heat and cool.⁴

While most temperature-related deaths in Australia are attributed to cold weather, heat-related health impacts are rising.⁵ In a large study of health professionals, the most common climate-related health condition that respondents reported seeing in their patients was heat stress or heat stroke caused by heat waves.⁶ In 2009 there were 374 more heat-related deaths during that period,⁷ and cases involving heat-related illness jumped 34-fold and cardiac arrests almost tripled in Victoria.⁸

People most at risk of temperature-related health impacts are those with low-incomes living in poor quality housing without efficient heating or cooling. Other groups considered to be at risk include elderly people, those with existing health conditions, and Indigenous people.⁹

Victoria's per capita greenhouse gas emissions are some of the highest in the world.

While Victoria's per capita greenhouse gas emissions have decreased down to 13.84 tonnes¹⁰ in recent years, they remain among the highest in the world.¹¹ This is primarily the consequence of emissions from energy;¹² Victorians generate 0.96 kg of greenhouse gas emissions per kilowatt hour of electricity – well-above any other Australian state or territory and 60 per cent higher than the national average.¹³ The poor energy efficiency of homes intensifies the issue. While all new homes in Victoria must comply with the compulsory 6-Star House Energy Rating, around 86 per cent were built before these stronger energy efficiency regulations were introduced in 2005. As a result, the average rating for houses constructed in Victoria before 2005 is 1.81 stars.¹⁴ More broadly, a range of market failures have slowed progress and improving energy performance in the built environment has been limited to a small segment of the housing market.¹⁵

Energy costs are rising, impacting the most vulnerable households.

Low-income families, pensioners and other vulnerable people are under pressure from rising energy costs and face increasing difficulty paying electricity and gas bills. Retail electricity prices for households have increased by 80 to 90 per cent over the past decade and low-income households are hardest hit, spending up to five times more (as a proportion of disposable income) on electricity than higher-income earners.¹⁶ One in four – roughly 455,604 households – are now paying over 8.8 per cent of their income on energy.¹⁷

Our Response

Energy efficiency and on-site renewables are costeffective means of addressing all three of these challenges while creating climate safe homes. These measures can reduce the cost of living for households, provide protection for residents from both extreme heat and cold, while reducing Victoria's significant energyrelated greenhouse gas emissions.

An investment in improving the energy efficiency of a house can often be recouped by the resulting reduction in energy costs.¹⁸ Higher energy efficiency standards for existing housing stock could deliver more than \$1,000 in electricity savings for the average household, annually.¹⁹ It has been estimated that strengthening the energy efficiency requirements of Australia's residential building code could reduce energy bills by up to \$27 billion, cut energy network costs by up to \$12.6 billion and deliver at least 78 million tonnes of cumulative emissions savings.²⁰

While, reducing greenhouse gas emissions in some sectors is more difficult, fortunately for the building sector, technologically proven and commercially available measures, such as energy efficiency and on-site renewables, could deliver 28 per cent of Australia's 2030 emissions reduction target.²¹

Improving the energy efficiency and climate resilience of houses also provides protection from temperaturerelated risks through affordable, efficient cooling and heating as well as thermal performance improvements.²²

However, while the climate, financial and health benefits of energy efficiency and renewables are accepted, uptake of both remain limited among the consumers most likely to benefit due to lack of information, cost and other barriers, such as split incentives between landlords and tenants.²³

The Foundation is increasing the energy efficiency and climate resilience of vulnerable households to reduce the cost of living, reduce emissions and provide protection from both extreme heat and cold.

The Foundation's support is focused on:

- Initiatives that directly increase the energy efficiency and climate resilience of vulnerable households, such as subsidy or retrofit programs, including where they potentially intersect with our interest in increasing the supply of affordable housing.
- Activities that demonstrably influence relevant local, state and commonwealth policies, regulations and codes.
- Research to better understand energy poverty, temperature-related risks, residential greenhouse gas emissions and measures to reduce them.

 ABS Census, Estimating Homelessness (14 March 2018) http://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/ mf/2049.0;

Analysis of ABS data taken from Council to Homeless Persons, Homelessness in Victoria (2018) http://chp. org.au/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/Homelessnessin-Victoria-Fact-Sheet.pdf

- 3 Ibid. 4 Ibid.
- 4 Ik
- 5 Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW), Specialist homelessness services 2017-18: Victoria (2019) https://www.aihw.gov.au/getmedia/46473685-40d3-471b-b28d-ae6aaac81e84/aihw-hou-299-vic. pdf.aspx
- 6 ABS Census, Estimating Homelessness (14 March 2018) http://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/mf/2049.0;

Analysis of ABS data taken from Council to Homeless Persons, Homelessness in Victoria (2018) http://chp. org.au/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/Homelessnessin-Victoria-Fact-Sheet.pdf

- 7 ABS Census, Estimating Homelessness (14 March 2018) http://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/ mf/2049.0
- 8 Schutella et al, Journeys Home: Research Report No 6. (2015) https://melbourneinstitute.unimelb.edu. au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0007/2202865/Scutella_ et_al_Journeys_Home_Research_Report_W6.pdf
- 9 CREATE Foundation, Transitioning from Care Report Card (2011) https://create.org.au/wp-content/ uploads/2014/12/2011-CRE065-F-CREATE-Report-Card-2011-Web-File-webR.pdf; Homelessness Australia, Homelessness and Young People (2016) https://www.homelessnessaustralia.org.au/sites/ homelessnessaus/files/2017-07/Young%20People. pdf
- 10 The rate of older men (55 and older) experiencing homelessness increased by 26 per cent and older women by 31 per cent across Australia between 2011 to 2016. ABS Census, Estimating Homelessness (14 March 2018) http://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/ abs@.nsf/mf/2049.0
- 11 Ibid. See also Australian Human Rights Commission, Older Women's Risk of Homelessness: Background Paper (2019) https://www.humanrights.gov.au/ sites/default/files/document/publication/ahrc_ow_ homelessness2019.pdf
- 12 See for instance: Council to Homeless Persons, Why LGBT Victorians are twice as likely to face homelessness (2 November 2017) http://chp.org.au/ lgbtq-victorians-twice-likely-face-homelessness/
- 13 Council to Homeless Persons, Homelessness in Victoria (2018) http://chp.org.au/wp-content/ uploads/2019/01/Homelessness-in-Victoria-Fact-Sheet.pdf
- 14 Council to Homeless Persons, Youth Homelessness (2018) http://chp.org.au/wp-content/ uploads/2018/04/1.-Youth-homelessness-fact-sheet. pdf taken from Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW) Specialist homelessness services 2016-17: Victoria (2018) https://www.aihw.gov.au/ getmedia/0744/le6f-86/t-46ea-82d6/aba6f811e45e/ shs-2016-17-vic-factsheet.pdf.aspx
- 15 ABS Census, Estimating Homelessness (14 March 2018) http://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/ mf/2049.0;
- 16 Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW) Specialist homelessness services 2017-18: Victoria (2019) https://www.aihw.gov.au/getmedia/46473685-40d3-471b-b28d-ae6aaac81e84/aihw-hou-299-vic. pdf.aspx
- 17 Council to Homeless Persons, Youth Homelessness (2018) http://chp.org.au/wp-content/ uploads/2018/04/1.-Youth-homelessness-fact-sheet. pdf taken from Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW) Specialist homelessness services 2016-17: Victoria (2018) https://www.aihw.gov.au/ getmedia/0744/le6f-86f4-46ea-82d6-aba6f811e45e/ shs-2016-17-vic-factsheet.pdf.aspx
- 18 Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW) Specialist homelessness services 2017-18: Victoria (2019) https://www.aihw.gov.au/getmedia/46473685-40d3-471b-b28d-ae6aaac81e84/aihw-hou-299-vic. pdf.aspx
- 19 Council to Homeless Persons, Fact Sheet: Family violence and homelessness (2017) https://chp.org. au/wp-content/uploads/2015/06/Family-violencefact-sheet-FINAL.pdf
- 20 Ibid.

- 21 Australian Human Rights Commission, Older Women's Risk of Homelessness: Background Paper (2019) https://www.humanrights.gov.au/ sites/default/files/document/publication/ahrc_ow_ homelessness2019.pdf
- 22 Ibid.
- 23 Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute (AHURI), Integrating Australia's housing and mental health support systems (November 2018) https://www.ahuri.edu.au/__data/assets/pdf_ file/0030/29739/PES-Integrating-Australia-housingand-mental-health-support-systems.pdf
- 24 Council to Homeless Persons, 5 reasons the Mental Health Royal Commission must examine housing & homelessness (22 January 2019) http://chp.org. au/five-reasons-why-victorias-mental-health-royalcommission-must-examine-the-role-of-housing-andhomelessness/
- 25 M O'Donnell et al, The Trauma and Homelessness Initiative (2014) https://www.sacredheartmission.org/ docman/publications/trauma-and-homelessness/99thi-report-research-findings/file
- 26 Ibid.
- 27 Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute (AHUR), What is the Housing First model and how does it help those experiencing homelessness? (25 May 2018) https://www.ahuri.edu.au/policy/ahuribriefs/what-is-the-housing-first-model

OUTCOME 2

- 1 Demographia, 15th Annual Demographia International Housing Affordability Survey: 2019 (2019) http://www.demographia.com/dhi.pdf
- 2 Dr Matthew Thomas, Housing affordability in Australia Parliament of Australia (December 2017) https://www.aph.gov.au/About_Parliament/ Parliamentary_Departments/Parliamentary_Library/ pubs/BriefingBook45p/HousingAffordability
- Dr Kate Raynor et al, Housing affordability in Victoria: Research Paper Parliament of Victoria (December 2017) https://msd.unimelb.edu.au/____ data/assets/pdf_file/0007/2650858/APO-Housingaffordability-in-Victoria.pdf
- 4 Demographia, 15th Annual Demographia International Housing Affordability Survey: 2019 (2019) http://www.demographia.com/dhi.pdf. Another frequently used measure of housing affordability is CoreLogic, Housing Affordability Report: June quarter 2018 (September 2018) https://www.corelogic.com.au/sites/default/ files/2018-09/CoreLogic%20Housing%20 Affordability%20Report_Sep%202018.pdf?utm_ source=Newsletter&utm_medium=Email&utm_ campaign=PPulseReport_20180910 For a general discuss on measuring housing affordability, see Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute (AHURI), Understanding the 30:40 indicator of housing affordability stress (23 May 2019) https:// www.ahuri.edu.au/policy/ahuri-briefs/3040-indicator
- 5 John Daley et al, Housing affordability: re-imaging the Australian dream Grattan Institute (2018) https:// grattan.edu.au/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/901-Housing-affordability.pdf 12
- GoreLogic, Housing Affordability Report: June quarter 2018 (September 2018) https:// www.corelogic.com.au/sites/default/ files/2018-09/CoreLogic%20Housing%20 Affordability%20Report_Sep%202018.pdf?utm_ source=Newsletter&utm_medium=Email&utm_ campaign=PPulseReport_20180910 8
- 7 AHURI, Understanding the 30:40 indicator of housing affordability stress (23 May 2019) https://www.ahuri. edu.au/policy/ahuri-briefs/3040-indicator
- 8 Michael Janda, 'House price falls may be ending, but do not expect another boom' The Age (19 July 2019) https://www.abc.net.au/news/2019-07-19/houseprice-falls-are-ending-but-dont-expect-anotherboom/11298992
- 9 Steven Rowley et al, 'Housing affordability has improved slightly, but people on lower incomes will continue to struggle' The Conversation (31 May 2019) https://theconversation.com/housingaffordability-has-improved-slightly-but-people-onlower-incomes-will-continue-to-struggle-117898
- 10 Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW), Mortgage stress, rental stress, housing affordability stress: what's the difference? (27 Feb 2018) https:// www.ahuri.edu.au/policy/ahuri-briefs/understandingmortgage-stress

- 11 Australian Institute of Health and Welfare , Housing affordability stress in Australia (29 Feb 2016) https:// www.ahuri.edu.au/news-and-media/news/2016news/infographic-housing-affordability-stress
- 12 Anglicare Australia, Rental Affordability Snapshot National Report (April 2019) https://www.anglicare. asn.au/docs/default-source/default-documentlibrary/final--rental-affordability-snapshota302da30 9d6962baacc1ff0000899bca.pdf?sfvrsn=4 11
- 13 John Daley et al, Housing affordability: re-imaging the Australian dream Grattan Institute, (2018) https:// grattan.edu.au/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/901-Housing-affordability.pdf 43.
- 14 John Daley et al, Housing affordability: re-imaging the Australian dream Grattan Institute, (2018) https:// grattan.edu.au/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/901-Housing-affordability.pdf 4.2.2.
- Department of Health and Human Services, Rental Report: March quarter 2019 (2019) https://www. dhhs.vic.gov.au/publications/rental-report. See also Anglicare Australia, Rental Affordability Snapshot National Report (April 2019) https://www.anglicare. asn.au/docs/default-source/default-documentlibrary/final---rental-affordability-snapshota302da30 9d6962baacc1ff0000899bca.pdf?sfvrsn=4
- Department of Health and Human Services, Rental Report: March quarter 2019 (2019) https://www.dhhs. vic.gov.au/publications/rental-report.
 Ibid.
- Ibid.
 Ibid, 4.2.3. Note: rates are based on analysis of ABS data.
- 19 ABS Census, Estimating Homelessness (14 March 2018) http://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/ mf/2049.0
- 20 Planning and Environment Act 1987 (Vic) s 3AA(2) http://classic.austlii.edu.au/au/legis/vic/consol_act/ paea1987254/
- 21 Minister for Planning, Victoria Government Gazette: No S 256, 29 May 2018 https://www.planning.vic.gov. au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0020/214823/Final_Orderin-Council for-Gazette.pdf
- 22 Housing Vic, Social housing https://housing.vic.gov. au/social-housing
- 23 Parliament of Victoria, Legal and Social Issues Committee, Inquiry in the Public Housing Renewal Program (June 2018) https://www.parliament.vic. gov.au/images/stories/committees/SCLSI/Public_ Housing_Renewal_Program/LSIC_58-11_PHRP_ Text_WEB.pdf 95
- 24 Clay Lucas, 'Data show few new public housing units despite affordability crisis' The Age (8 November 2018) https://www.theage.com.au/politics/victoria/ data-shows-few-new-public-housing-units-despiteaffordability-crisis-20181108-p50evc.html

OUTCOME 3

- State of the Climate, 2020, Bureau of Meteorology and CSIRO. https://www.csiro.au/en/research/ environmental-impacts/climate-change/state-ofthe-climate
- 2 United States Environment Protection Agency, Heat Islands, 2019 https://www.epa.gov/heat-islands
- 3 Loughnan, et al. A spatial vulnerability analysis of urban populations during extreme heat events in Australian capital cities, National Climate Change Adaptation Research Facility, Gold Coast pp.128. https://www.nccarf.edu.au/business/sites/www. nccarf.edu.au.business/files/attached_files_ publications/Loughnan=ExtremeHeatEventsinAustral ianCapitalCities-HighRes.pdf
- 4 Australian Sustainable Built Environment Council and ClimateWorks, Built to Perform: An Industry Led Pathway to a Zero Carbon Ready Building Code, 2018 https://www.asbec.asn.au/research-items/ built-perform/
- 5 Gasparrini, Guo et al. Mortality risk attributable to high and low ambient temperature: a multicountry observational study, The Lancet, 2015 https://www. thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736(14)62114-0/fulltext
- 6 Climate and Health Alliance, 'Real, Urgent & Now Insights from health professionals on climate and health in Australia', 2021
- 7 Department of Human Services, January 2009 Heatwave in Victoria: an Assessment of Health Impacts, 2009 https://www2.health.vic.gov.au/Api% 2Fdownloadmedia%2F%7B959CCD3C-8285-4938-872E-62E15AA62C62%7D

- 8 Lesley Hughes, Elizabeth Hanna and Jacqui Fenwick (Climate Council of Australia), The Silent Killer: Climate Change and the Health Impacts of Extreme Heat, 2016 AND Exploring 167 years of vulnerability: An examination of extreme heat events in Australia 1844–2010, Environmental Science & Policy Volume 42, October 2014. https://www.climatecouncil.org.au/ uploads/b6cd865c633434e8d02910ee82a87c.pdf | https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S1462901114000999
- 9 Climate and Health Alliance, 'Real, Urgent & Now Insights from health professionals on climate and health in Australia', 2021
- 10 Department of Industry, Science, Energy and Resources, 'State and territory greenhouse gas inventories: annual emissions', 2019
- 11 EU publications: Fossil CO2 and GHG emissions of all world countries, 2019 report Study
- 12 Commonwealth of Australia, 'State and Territory Greenhouse Gas Inventories 2017', 2019. https://www.environment.gov.au/system/ files/resources/917a98ab-85cd-45e4-ae7abcd1b914cfb2/files/state-territory-inventories-2017. pdf
- 13 Australian Government Department of Industry, Science, Energy and Resources, 'National Greenhouse Accounts Factors', 2021
- 14 Sustainability Victoria, "The Victorian Households Energy Report," May 2014. http://www.enviroflex. com.au/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/Households-Energy-Report.pdf

- 15 Australian Sustainable Built Environment Council and ClimateWorks, Built to Perform: An Industry Led Pathway to a Zero Carbon Ready Building Code, 2018 https://www.asbec.asn.au/wordpress/wp-content/ uploads/2018/10/180703-ASBEC-CWA-Built-to-Perform-Zero-Carbon-Ready-Building-Code-web.pdf
- 16 Australian Competition and Consumer Commission (ACCC), Retail Electricity Pricing Inquiry - Preliminary Report, 2017 https://www.accc.gov.au/system/ files/Retail%20Electricity%20Inquiry%20-%20 Preliminary%20report%20-%2013%20November%20 2017.pdf
- 17 Australian Council of Social Service and Brotherhood of St Laurence, Energy Stressed in Australia, 2018 http://library.bsl.org.au/jspui/bitstream/1/10896/4/ ACOSS_BSL_energy_stressed_in_Australia_ Oct2018.pdf
- 18 Energy and GHG reductions considering embodied impacts of retrofitting existing dwelling stock in Greater Melbourne, Journal of Cleaner Production Volume 170, 1 January 2018 https://apo.org.au/ node/137651
- 19 Australian Council of Social Service and Brotherhood of St Laurence, Energy Stressed in Australia, 2018 http://library.bsl.org.au/jspui/bitstream/1/10896/4/ ACOSS_BSL_Energy_stressed_in_Australia_ Oct2018.pdf
- 20 Australian Sustainable Built Environment Council and ClimateWorks, Built to Perform: An Industry Led Pathway to a Zero Carbon Ready Building Code, 2018 https://www.asbec.asn.au/research-items/ built-perform/

- 21 Australian Sustainable Built Environment Council (ASBEC), Low Carbon, High Performance, 2016 https://www.asbec.asn.au/wordpress//wp-content/ uploads/2016/05/160509-ASBEC-Low-Carbon-High-Performance-Full-Report.pdf
- 22 Australian Sustainable Built Environment Council and ClimateWorks, Built to Perform: An Industry Led Pathway to a Zero Carbon Ready Building Code, 2018 https://www.asbec.asn.au/research-items/ built-perform/
- 23 CRC for Low Carbon Living, the Australian Sustainable Built Environment, Low Carbon Homes for Low Income Households, 2018 http://www. lowcarbonlivingcrc.com.au/sites/all/files/low_c_low_ income_forum_briefing_paper_25_7_2018.pdf

Learn more about the issues affecting our community

Our <u>Greater Melbourne Vital Signs Report</u> provides a snapshot of the health, wellbeing and vitality of Greater Melbourne. The report identifies positive aspects of our community, as well as the issues we face, and informs the Foundation's strategy.